University of Arkansas, Fayetteville ScholarWorks@UARK

Theses and Dissertations

5-2012

Development of a Microfluidic Device Coupled to Microdialysis Sampling for the Pre-concentration of Cytokines

Randy Francisco Espinal Cabrera University of Arkansas, Fayetteville

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd Part of the Medical Biochemistry Commons, Molecular, Cellular, and Tissue Engineering <u>Commons</u>, and the <u>Nervous System Diseases Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Espinal Cabrera, Randy Francisco, "Development of a Microfluidic Device Coupled to Microdialysis Sampling for the Preconcentration of Cytokines" (2012). *Theses and Dissertations*. 349. http://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd/349

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks@UARK. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UARK. For more information, please contact scholar@uark.edu, ccmiddle@uark.edu.

DEVELOPMENT OF A MICROFLUIDIC DEVICE COUPLED TO MICRODIALYSIS SAMPLING FOR THE PRE-CONCENTRATION OF CYTOKINES

DEVELOPMENT OF A MICROFLUIDIC DEVICE COUPLED TO MICRODIALYSIS SAMPLING FOR THE PRE-CONCENTRATION OF CYTOKINES

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Chemistry

Bу

Randy Francisco Espinal Cabrera Autonomous University of Santo Domingo Bachelor of Science in Chemistry, 2004

> May 2012 University of Arkansas

ABSTRACT

A proof-of-concept microfluidic device combined with heparin-immobilized magnetic beads was created to concentrate cytokine proteins collected from microdialysis samples. Cytokines are known to be related to several diseases such as cancer, and Parkinson's diseases, so to be able to develop more effective diseases treatments their interactions have to be well understood. Amine-functionalized polystyrene and carboxyl-functionalized magnetic microspheres of ~6.0 µm in diameter were used to immobilize heparin. The amount of heparin immobilized on polystyrene beads was $5.82 \times 10^{-8} \pm 0.36 \times 10^{-1}$ ⁸ M per 1.0 x 10⁶ beads and for magnetic beads was 0.64 x 10⁻⁸ \pm 0.01 x 10⁻⁸ M per 1.0 x 10⁶ beads. The minimum initial heparin concentration needed to bind ~ 100% cytokines was 36.8 µM based on estimations for a fixed initial concentration (1.0 nM) of cytokines. For polystyrene beads, it was found that 0.1 and 1.0 nM ratCCL2 (MCP-1) bound to immobilized heparin at levels of 94.50 and 83.67%, respectively. For heparin immobilized magnetic beads, experimental percentages of cytokine bound to heparin were 70.38 ± 1.71 % (ratCCL2, 0.57 nM) and 11.07 % (ratTNF- α , 0.09 nM). The differences between experimental and estimated percentages of cytokine bound to heparin were 28.31 and 31.56% for ratCCL2 and ratTNF-α. A microfluidic system was designed and made of polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) with soft lithography. The dimensions were as follows: a) Inlet channel width of 0.1 mm, b) circular trapping area of 3.6 mm in diameter, and c) outlet channel width of 0.2 mm. The equivalent circuit theory was used to estimate the pressure drop for each channel at a flow rate of 1.0 µL/min. Estimated Reynolds numbers for each channel were low (0.17, 0.01, and 0.11) in agreement with the theory. Estimated pressure drops were 112.2, 0.20, and 30.28 Pa. Using different flow rates, the infusion of magnetic microspheres into the device and their "spreading" behavior within circular channel was observed and quantified. "Spreading" behavior of magnetic microspheres on a circular channel could be controlled by changing their flow rate. Controlling the behavior of magnetic microspheres is very crucial for pre-concentration of cytokine proteins on bead-based microfluidic devices. This microfluidic device is now ready for testing of the trapping and preconcentration of cytokines in real microdialysis samples.

This thesis is approved for recommendation to the Graduate Council

Thesis Director:

Julie A. Stenken, Ph.D.

Thesis Committee:

Ingrid Fritsch, Ph.D.

Christa Hestekin, Ph.D.

Colin Heyes, Ph.D.

David Paul, Ph.D.

Steve Tung, Ph.D.

THESIS DUPLICATION RELEASE

I hereby authorize the University of Arkansas Libraries to duplicate this thesis when needed for research and/or scholarship.

Agreed ___

Randy Francisco Espinal Cabrera

Refused __

Randy Francisco Espinal Cabrera

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am very fortunate to have had the opportunity to work with several incredible people and programs during the course of my Master's degree before. First of all, I would like to thank The Fulbright Faculty Development Program (the Dominican Republic), The Academic and Professional Programs for the Americas (LASPAU), The Institute of International Education (IIE), Spring International Language Center (SILC), and The Autonomous University of Santo Domingo (UASD) to give me the opportunity to pursue and get my master's degree. Also, I would like to thank Dr. Ryan Keane (LASPAU), Renee Burke (LASPAU), Ana Maria Puigbo (Franklin Center, the Dominican Republic), Carlos Solorzano (LASPAU), Rebecca Carpenter de Cortina (IIE), Catherine Cunningham (The University of Arkansas), Dr. Leyah Bergman-Lanier (SILC), Dr. José Contreras (UASD), Soledad Vasallo (UASD), and Miledy Alberto, Dean of the College of Science (UASD). Without their help and support I would not be able to pursue and get my degree.

Special thanks are due to Dr.Julie A. Stenken and her research group to allow me to be part of her research group and guide me throughout my degree as my research advisor. I am really proud to have worked for her, because of her dedication, encouragement, guidance, and advice that made me becomes a better professional and student as well. Without her financial, scientific, and professional support I would not be able to have reached to this step in my student career. I would like to thanks the NIH grant EB-001441 and the Arkansas Biosciences Institute.

I would like to thank Dr. David Paul, Dr. Ingrid Fritsch, Dr. Colin Heyes, Dr. Christa Hestekin, and Dr. Steve Tung to be part of my research committee. I am very thankful to have had them as members of my research committee before.

Special thanks go to The University of Arkansas (Department of Chemistry & Biochemistry), Dr. Jia Duo, Dr. Scott Martin, Laura Filla, Errol Porter, Mike Glover, KZ Shein, Anthony Herbaugh, Altagracia Espinal, my siblings and my parents. Finally, they were an integral part of my achievement.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEVELOPMENT OF A MICROFLUIDIC DEVICE COUPLED TO MICRODIALYSIS SAMPLING FOR THE PRE-CONCENTRATION OF CYTOKINES

ABS	STRACT	3
ACK	(NOWLEDGEMENTS	6
1	CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION: BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE	1
1.	.1 CYTOKINE	1
	1.1.1 Overview and importance in biomedicine	1
	1.1.2 Cytokines detection methods or assays	1
1.	.2 MICRODIALYSIS SAMPLING	3
1.	.3 Heparin	7
1.	.4 MICROSPHERES	8
1.	.5 MICROFLUIDICS	9
1.	.6 REFERENCES	10
2 MICI	CHAPTER 2. IMMOBILIZATION, TESTING, AND PRE-CONCENTRATION APPROAC ROFLUIDICS SYSTEMS APPLICATIONS OF HEPARIN FUNCTIONALIZED MICROSF	H FOR HERES
2.	.1 INTRODUCTION	14
	2.1.1 Immobilization and characterization of heparin	14
	2.1.2 Testing of heparin functionalized microspheres	15
	2.1.3 Proof of principal pre-concentration approach using heparin functionalized polyst	yrene
	microspheres	16
	2.1.4 Hemacytometer	18
2.	2 EXPERIMENTAL SECTION	18
	2.2.1 Chemicals	18
	2.2.2 Immobilization of heparin onto microspheres	19
	2.2.3 Characterization or quantitation of heparin immobilized	20
	2.2.4 Testing of heparin immobilized	21
	2.2.5 Proof of concept pre-concentration approach using heparin functionalized polyst	yrene
	microspheres	23

	2.3	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	24
	2.3.	1 Characterization or quantitation of heparin immobilized	24
	2.3.2	2 Testing of heparin immobilized	25
	2.3.3	3 Proof of principal pre-concentration approach using heparin functionalized polystyr	ene
	micr	ospheres	27
	2.4	CONCLUSION	32
	2.5	REFERENCES	34
3 M	CHA IICROF	APTER 3. DESIGN, FABRICATION, AND TESTING OF PRE-CONCENTRATOR LUIDIC SYSTEM	36
	3.1		36
	3.1.1	1 Theory and estimations	36
	3.2	DESIGN AND FABRICATION	36
	3.3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	38
	3.4	TESTING	39
	3.4.1	1 Liquid filling	39
	3.4.2	2 Microspheres behavior inside circular trapping	39
	3.4.3	3 Online and offline collection of microspheres	43
	3.5	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	45
	3.5.	1 Background of the design chosen	45
	3.5.2	2 Pressure drop estimations	48
	3.6	REFERENCES	52
4	CHA	APTER 4. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK	53
	4.1	REFERENCES	56

1 CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION: Background and Significance

1.1 Cytokine

1.1.1 Overview and importance in biomedicine

Cytokines are vitally important signaling proteins generated during an immunological response. Whicher and Evans stated that "cytokines are peptides used by immune and inflammatory cells to communicate with each other and control the *milleu interieur* in which they operate".¹ Their molecular weight ranges between 8 to 80 kDa.¹¹ Cytokines or "chemical messengers" are released "by white blood cells and several other cell types in the body".^{12,13} Several families of cytokines are released during an immune response.¹³ These proteins are often dysregulated in diseases such as diabetes,² cancer,^{1,3} and Parkinson's disease.⁴ These cytokines act coordinately as a network.¹³ As a result, a multiplexed analysis rather than one cytokine at a time analysis is necessary for determining the level of the network. There is an enormous interest in monitoring the concentration changes of cytokines in living systems during some disease stages.

Typically, cytokines are collected from blood and tissue samples. The problem with sampling cytokines from blood and tissue is that obtaining *in situ* and in real-time concentration changes of cytokines directly within the tissue is not possible. In contrast, microdialysis sampling methods can be used along with other techniques to measure and monitor cytokines concentration changes *in situ* and in real-time, see section 1.2. Cytokines are normally present in low concentrations (picomolar or femtomolar range).^{6,7,8} According to Ao and Stenken most cytokines have a high biological activity and rapid concentration changes within living systems.⁵ Therefore, quantitation of cytokine proteins is very challenging and requires highly sensitive detection methods such as antibody-based enzyme linked immunoassay (ELISA).

1.1.2 Cytokines detection methods or assays

Several research groups have worked on the development of detection methods to improve the quantitation of cytokines in living systems. Whiteside wrote a helpful review article about cytokines assays.¹⁰ In this article she pointed out that immunoassays for cytokines such as ELISA are commonly

used because of "their acceptable specificity, sensitivity, rapid turnaround time, convenience, ease of performance, and a relatively low cost".¹⁰ Also, she classified the available methods for cytokines assessment in body fluids, cells, and tissues.¹⁰ She mentioned that immunocytochemistry, immunofluorescence, and mRNA-based assays are the methods available for the detection of cytokines in tissues.¹⁰ On the other hand, according to Remick, et al., the basic ELISA protocol takes approximately 19 hours to get the results.⁹ This is one of the main issues of using ELISA to quantify biomolecules or cytokines along with the sample size requirement of at least 100 µL and the labor intensity or tediousness of the process.

Pre-concentration of biomolecules or proteins is widely used by many research groups and industrial processes.¹⁴⁻¹⁹ As mentioned above, proteins such as cytokines can be present in picomolar to femtomolar concentrations. The problem is that commonly used analytical instruments or methods for protein quantitation such as ELISA can only measure down to 31.25 pg/mL or 2.39 pM (MCP-1, for example) (BD bioscience ELISA's kit) without making any changes to the standard protocol.²⁰ Also, commonly used analytical methods for protein quantitation require mimumum volumes of at least 50 μL or 100 μL.²⁰ That is why it is very important to develop a method or system coupled to a sampling technique to be able to pre-concentrate cytokines and measure them using smaller sample volumes (1 μL) than the ELISA methods. In addition, the fact that some cytokines are present in low pg/mL concentrations and sampling techniques such as microdialysis has low extraction efficiencies when sampling cytokines represents a challenge for the development of the sampling system.

Monitoring concentration changes of cytokines over time is crucial to study the immune-related interactions of cytokines within living systems during disease states. Therefore, it is necessary to use minimally invasive sampling methods such as microdialysis in order to track the concentration changes over time. Finally, it is very important to understand the diffusive limitations of microdialysis sampling in order to overcome the challenges associated with monitoring concentration changes of cytokines over time.

1.2 Microdialysis Sampling

Microdialysis sampling is a minimally-invasive diffusion-based technique commonly used to sample from many different tissue spaces²¹ and is starting to be used extensively in humans.^{11, 22} The efficiency of microdialysis sampling during cytokine or protein collection is commonly represented as either relative recovery (RR) or extraction efficiency (EE).^{23, 24} Relative recovery has been defined by Bungay et al. as the ratio of the biomolecule concentration of interest collected after microdialysis sampling (C_{outlet}) and the concentration of this biomolecule far away from the collection point (C_{sample, ∞}).²⁴ The latter statement can be simplified with the following equation:

Equation 1.1

$$RR = \frac{C_{outlet}}{C_{sample, \infty}}$$

Relative recovery (RR) or extraction efficiency (EE) is defined as:²⁵

Equation 1.2

RR = EE = 1 - exp
$$\frac{-1}{Q_d(R_d + R_m + R_q)}$$

In this equation, Q_d represents the flow rate; R_d, the mass transport resistance of the quiescent medium external to the microdialysis probe; R_m, the mass transport resistance of the dialysate; and R_q, the mass transport resistance of the membrane. More specific terms are shown on Table 1.1. Equation 1.2 takes into account all the variables associated with influencing the amount of material recovered during the collection of any biomolecule using a microdialysis probe. To clarify, it is important to define and schematically represent each variable of Equation 1.2,^{23,25} see Figure 1.1,²³ and Table 1.1.²² The poor collection or EE performance of microdialysis sampling when used to collect certain biomolecules such as cytokines is due to several factors: a) mass transport resistances, see Table 1.1, b) biomolecular diffusion rate, c) the pore size of the microdialysis membrane as well as whether the membrane is hydrophobic or hydrophilic, and d) their low concentrations that change rapidly.²⁴ As a result, quantifying cytokines collected using microdialysis sampling method is challenging.

Cytokines are known to bind different biomolecules such as complex sugars (for example heparin),²⁶ antibodies,²⁶ and aptamers^{27, 28} which brings the opportunity of creating affinity based methods to improve the collection of these proteins from tissue spaces during microdialysis sampling. Aptamers are oligonucleotides with similar properties than antibodies generated using a process called Selective Evolution of Ligands by Exponential enrichment (SELEX).^{27, 29} According to Chris Le et al "aptamers are short nucleic acid sequences that are used as ligands to bind their targets with high affinity".²⁸



Figure 1.1 Schematic CMA/20 10 mm polyethersulfone microdialysis layout.²³

Table 1.1 List of equations and variables of relative recovery equation, see Equation 1.2

Equations	Definition		Variables	
	Mass transport resistance of		Φ_q = Volume fraction for quiescent	
R = <u>1</u>	the quiescent medium		medium	
$1 \sqrt{q}^{-2} 2\pi D_q \Phi_q \sqrt{2r_0 L}$	external to the microdia	lysis	r ₀ = Outer radius of membrane	
	probe ²⁵		L = Effective membrane length	
			r _i = Inner radius of membrane	
$=$ 13($r_i - r_\alpha$)	Mass transport resistar	ice of	r_{α} = Inner radius of cannula	
$r_d = \frac{1}{70\pi Lr_i D_d}$	the dialysate ²⁵		D _d = Diffusion coefficient in the	
			dialysate	
$-\ln\left(\frac{r_0}{r_i}\right)$	Mass transport resistance of		Φ_m = Membrane volume fraction	
$R_{\rm m} = \frac{\alpha_{\rm m}}{2\pi L D_{\rm m}} \Phi_{\rm m}$	the membrane ²⁵		occupied by water	
6.85 x 10 ⁻¹⁵	Aqueous diffusion		η = Dynamic viscosity	
$D_d = \frac{1}{n \sqrt{*M_3^2 P_c}}$			M = Molecular weight	
			R _G = Radius of gyration	
$\lambda = \frac{r_s}{r_s}$	Ratio of analyte radius to		r _s = Radius of analyte	
r _p	pore radius ³¹		r _p = Radius of pore size	
$H_{\rm m} = K(1-2.1044\lambda + 2.089\lambda^3 - 0.948\lambda^5)$		Diffusion hindrance factor ³²		
$K = (1 - \lambda)^2$		Partition coefficient ³³		
$D_{-1} = D_{-1} (1 - \lambda)^2 (1 - 2 \cdot 104\lambda + 2 \cdot 089\lambda^3 - 0.948\lambda^5)$		Effective membrane diffusion coefficient		
$D_{\rm m} = D_{\rm aq} (1 - N) (1 - 2.104N + 2.003N - 0.340N)$		using the diffusion hindrance factor ³⁴		

Several researchers have created affinity based methods to improve the relative recovery of cytokines using microdialysis sampling technique.^{5, 24, 35} Affinity-based methods could be defined as methods that take advantage of the binding affinities of two biomolecules or molecules. For instance, Duo et al. developed a method to improve cytokines relative recovery using affinity agents such as antibodies and heparin attached to polystyrene microspheres.²⁶ Their method consists of perfusing polystyrene

microspheres of 5.99 µm o.d. with an immobilized affinity agent, for example antibodies, through the microdialysis probe during cytokine protein collection to increase their mass transport across the membrane pores.^{26, 35} According to Duo, heparin is an affinity agent more suitable for the capture and release of cytokines from functionalized microspheres than antibodies.³⁶ Antibodies have slower (10^{-5} s^{-1}) dissociation rate constant (k_{off}), are less chemically stable, and are more expensive than heparin ($k_{off} = 10^{-2}$ to 10^{-4} s^{-1}).³⁶

When antibody-immobilized beads are used as affinity agents during microdialysis sampling followed by direct measurements of dialysates containing the cytokines on the beads (flow cytometry) only one measurement can be performed if the concentration of the cytokine is too high (>5000 pg/mL). The problem with the flow Cytometry, immunoassay bead based detection, is that their design (Luminex or BD technology) only allows the beads or sample to be measured once, so further dilutions of a sample that is saturated or over range are not possible.³⁶ However, some research groups have developed methods or techniques that allow dilutions of samples if needed using microfluidic system. For example, Ligler and Kim developed a microfluidic system or "microflow cytometer" using bead-based techniques to measure multiple analytes at the same time.³⁷ The advantage of their system is that functionalized microspheres (having the analyte bound to them) can be recovered and measured more than once if necessary.

Another issue is that acidic (pH~4) dissociation reagents are required in order to release cytokines from antibody-immobilized microspheres which interfere with the assay performance and could denature the antibody.³⁶ In contrast, mild conditions (30% (v/v) acetonitrile) are used to dissociate cytokines from heparin functionalized microspheres.³⁶ This makes heparin a more "flexible" affinity agent than antibodies facilitating measurements, trapping and release of cytokines. However, using heparin as an affinity agent does not completely solve the quantitation issues when low concentrations of cytokines are collected. As a consequence, further pre-concentration of cytokines using heparin-microspheres is desired.

1.3 Heparin

Heparin, see Figure 1.2,³⁶ belongs to the family of glycosaminoglycans (GAGs). Highly sulfated glycosaminoglycans such as heparin and heparan sulfate are known to have affinity for several cytokines such as regulated upon activation, normal T-cell expressed and, secreted (RANTES) or C-C motif Ligand 5 (CCL5), monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) or C-C motif Ligand 2 (CCL2), macrophage inflammatory protein-1 (MIP-1), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), and interleukin-8 (IL-8).^{38, 39, 40, 41} Moreover, according to Linhardt and Capila the interactions between heparin and proteins are mainly ionic.³⁹ They also pointed out that either carboxyl or sulfo groups on heparin form ion pairs with positively charged amino acids on proteins. In addition, hydrogen bonding or nonionic interactions between heparin and proteins are also present in some instances.³⁹ Finally, heparin is a suitable affinity agent commonly used in biomedical related areas, because it can be attached to amine or carboxyl functionalized surfaces or microspheres via reductive amination or end point attachment with well-established chemical procedures.^{42, 43}



Heparin

Figure 1.2 Major and minor disaccharide repeating units in heparin (X = H or SO₃⁻, Y = Ac, SO₃⁻, or H).³⁶

1.4 Microspheres

Magnetic microspheres are widely used both *in vivo* and *in vitro* in many research areas such as, analytical chemistry, biomedical,⁴⁴ chemical and bio-engineering, drug targeting,⁴⁵ microfluidics,⁴⁶ medicine,^{47, 48} molecular biology,⁴⁹ nanotechnology,^{48, 50} and proteomics. One of the most common applications of magnetic microspheres is as carriers to deliver specific biomolecules into biological systems or any other systems such as microfluidics. Also, magnetic microspheres can be used to extract or capture biomolecules, viruses or bacteria from different systems.^{49, 51,52}

Another application in which magnetic microspheres have been used is in microfluidics devices. Vevret et al devised magnetic colloids to capture viruses.⁴⁹ They made magnetic colloids from oil in water magnetic emulsions in which poly (ethyleneimine) and poly (maleic anhydride-co-methyl vinyl ether) were adsorbed in two separated steps on the emulsion droplets. Veyret and co-workers could achieve a yellow fever virus capture efficiency of 90% from human serum. They performed several steps to isolate, purify, and detect the yellow virus from human or phosphate buffer saline using magnetic microspheres. Rittich et al functionalized magnetic microspheres with hydrophilic properties for molecular applications.⁵³ In their research, they developed magnetic nonporous hydrophilic microspheres by polymerizing poly (2hydroxyethyl methacrylate-co-ethylenedimethacrylate)-(P(HEMA-co-EDMA)), poly(2-hydroyethyl methacrylate-co-glycidyl methacrylate)-(P(HEMA-co-GMA)), and poly(glycidyl methacrylate)-(PGMA) with a stable colloidal solution of magnetite on one step process. Also, they functionalized the magnetic microspheres with different enzymes such as RNase A, DNase I, proteinase K, and Salmonella antibodies to isolate Salmonella cells and degrade bacterial RNA, chromosomal, and plasmid DNAs. Choi et al developed a new magnetic bead-based a device for integrated bio-detection systems.⁵⁴ He and his colleagues devised a filterless bio-separator system to trap functionalized magnetic microbeads on a flat surface to separate specific biomolecules from a carrier fluid and treat them chemically to release and detect analytes of interest. However, magnetic microspheres approaches to pre-concentrate cytokines or proteins have not been reported before. Most of the research work found in the literature is about preconcentration of viruses.⁵² One of the novel aspects of this thesis was the used of magnetic microspheres to pre-concentrate cytokines or proteins.

1.5 Microfluidics

Studies and creation of microfluidic sytems is an interdisciplinary research area integrating scientists and non-scientists from different disciplines such as Mechanical, Electrical, Computer Engineering, Chemistry,Physics and Biology on the quest for faster, cheaper, and smaller devices able to solve many different types of problems. One of the principal advantages of this research area is that commonly used analytical instruments or techniques such as High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), mass spectrometry (MS), and microdialysis sampling can be coupled to microfluidic systems.^{55,56,57} This makes microfluidic sytems a very versatile research area.⁵⁸ In contrast, most of the well-known fluid mechanics laws used for macrosystems cannot be applied to microsystem or microfluidics in some cases.^{59,60,61} That is one of the main drawbacks of this research area. To explain, most research depends on experimental information to evaluate the flow behavior in microfluidic systems.^{60,61,62}

This thesis had several goals. First, immobilization and quantitation of heparin onto either polymer or magnetic microspheres to capture cytokines and improve RR of cytokines after microdialysis sampling was pursued. Second, development of an equation to estimate the amount of heparin required (initial concentration) to be immobilized to beads to bind > 99% of cytokines at equilibrium. The amount of heparin included in the calculations was related to the amount of heparin-functionalized microspheres to be able to design a system based on the amount of heparin-functionalized microspheres necessary to pre-concentrate cytokines. Finally, design, fabricate, and test a microfluidic system to trap and release the heparin-functionalized microspheres after microdialysis sampling in order to further pre-concentrate cytokines.

1.6 References

1. Whicher, J. T.; Evans, S. W., Cytokines in disease. *Clinical Chemistry* **1990**, *36*(7), 1269-1281.

2. Liu, S.; Tinker, L.; Song, Y. Q.; Rifai, N.; Bonds, D. E.; Cook, N. R.; Heiss, G.; Howard, B. V.; Hotamisligil, G. S.; Hu, F. B.; Kuller, L. H.; Manson, J. E., A prospective study of inflammatory Cytokines and diabetes Mellitus in a multiethnic cohort of postmenopausal women. *Archives of Internal Medicine* **2007**, *167* (15), 1676-1685.

3. Garcea, G.; Neal, C. P.; Pattenden, C. J.; Steward, W. P.; Berry, D. P., Molecular prognostic markers in pancreatic cancer: A systematic review. *European Journal of Cancer* **2005**, *41* (15), 2213-2236.

4. Reale, M.; Iarlori, C.; Thomas, A.; Gambi, D.; Perfetti, B.; Di Nicola, M.; Onofrj, M., Peripheral cytokines profile in Parkinson's disease. *Brain Behavior and Immunity* **2009**, *23* (1), 55-63.

5. Ao, X. P.; Stenken, J. A., Microdialysis sampling of cytokines. *Methods* **2006**, *38* (4), 331-341.

6. Pereira, L. A.; Hatanaka, E.; Martins, E. F.; Oliveira, F.; Liberti, E. A.; Farsky, S. H.; Curi, R.; Pithon-Curi, T. C., Effect of oleic and linoleic acids on the inflammatory phase of wound healing in rats. *Cell Biochemistry and Function* **2008**, *26* (2), 197-204.

7. Baldwin, L.; Hunt, J. A., The in vivo cytokine release profile following implantation. *Cytokine* **2008**, *41* (3), 217-222.

8. Matalka, K. Z.; Tutunji, M. F.; Abu-Baker, M.; Abu Baker, Y., Measurement of protein cytokines in tissue extracts by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays: Application to lipopolysaccharide-induced differential milieu of cytokines. *Neuroendocrinology Letters* **2005**, *26* (3), 231-236.

9. Osuchowski, M. F.; Siddiqui, J.; Copeland, S.; Remick, D. G., Sequential ELISA to profile multiple cytokines from small volumes. *Journal of Immunological Methods* **2005**, *302* (1-2), 172-181.

10. Whiteside, T. L., Cytokine assays. *Supplement to BioTechniques* **2002**, (October), 4-15.

11. Chaurasia, C. S., In vivo microdialysis sampling: theory and applications. *Biomedical Chromatography* **1999**, *13* (5), 317-332.

12. Vilcek, J.; Feldmann, M., Historical review: Cytokines as therapeutics and targets of therapeutics. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* **2004**, *25* (4), 201-209.

13. Kusnecov, A., The cytokine network and immune functions. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience* **2001**, *26* (3), 257-259.

14. Wang, Y. C.; Stevens, A. L.; Han, J. Y., Million-fold preconcentration of proteins and peptides by nanofluidic filter. *Analytical Chemistry* **2005**, *77* (14), 4293-4299.

15. Hahn, T.; O'Sullivan, C. K.; Drese, K. S., Microsystem for Field-Amplified Electrokinetic Trapping Preconcentration of DNA at Poly(ethylene terephthalate) Membranes. *Analytical Chemistry* **2009**, *81* (8), 2904-2911.

16. Lee, J. H.; Song, Y. A.; Han, J. Y., Multiplexed proteomic sample preconcentration device using surface-patterned ion-selective membrane. *Lab on a Chip* **2008**, *8* (4), 596-601.

17. Lien, K. Y.; Lin, J. L.; Liu, C. Y.; Lei, H. Y.; Lee, G. B., Purification and enrichment of virus samples utilizing magnetic beads on a microfluidic system. *Lab on a Chip* **2007**, *7* (7), 868-875.

18. Gardeniers, H.; Van den Berg, A., Micro- and nanofluidic devices for environmental and biomedical applications. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry* **2004**, *84* (11), 809-819.

19. Kim, S. J.; Song, Y. A.; Han, J., Nanofluidic concentration devices for biomolecules utilizing ion concentration polarization: theory, fabrication, and applications. *Chemical Society Reviews* **2010**, *39* (3), 912-922.

20. Biosciences, B.

http://www.bdbiosciences.com/ecat/Searchresults.do?pgNum=1&pgSize=&sort=SortOrderDef&check=ma insearchcheck&key=elisa.

21. Clough, G. F., Microdialysis of large molecules. *Aaps Journal* **2005**, *7*(3), E686-E692.

22. Chaurasia, C.; Müller, M.; Bashaw, E.; Benfeldt, E.; Bolinder, J.; Bullock, R.; Bungay, P.; DeLange, E.; Derendorf, H.; Elmquist, W.; Hammarlund-Udenaes, M.; Joukhadar, C.; Kellogg, D.; Lunte, C.; Nordstrom, C.; Rollema, H.; Sawchuk, R.; Cheung, B.; Shah, V.; Stahle, L.; Ungerstedt, U.; Welty, D.; Yeo, H., AAPS-FDA Workshop White Paper: Microdialysis Principles, Application and Regulatory Perspectives. *Pharmaceutical Research* **2007**, *24* (5), 1014-1025.

23. Ao, X. Microdilysis Sampling of Some Hydrophobic Drugs and Inflammatory Cytokines. Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute Troy, New York, 2005.

24. Wang, Y. X.; Stenken, J. A., Affinity-based microdialysis sampling using heparin for in vitro collection of human cytokines. *Analytica Chimica Acta* **2009**, *651* (1), 105-111.

25. Bungay, P. M.; Morrison, P. F.; Dedrick, R. L., Steady-state theory for quantitative microdialysis of solutes and water invivo and invitro. *Life Sciences* **1990**, *46* (2), 105-119.

26. Duo, J.; Espinal, R.; Stenken, J. A. Comparison of heparin-immobilized vs. antibody-immobilized microspheres for the capture and detection of cytokines during microdialysis sampling. *IEEExplore Digital Library* [Online], 2009, p. 112-115.

http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/Xplore/login.jsp?url=http%3A%2F%2Fieeexplore.ieee.org%2Fiel5%2F4850422%2F4906693%2F04906722.pdf%3Farnumber%3D4906722&authDecision=-203.

27. Li, Y. Y.; Zhang, C.; Li, B. S.; Zhao, L. F.; Li, X. B.; Yang, W. J.; Xu, S. Q., Ultrasensitive densitometry detection of cytokines with nanoparticle-modified aptamers. *Clinical Chemistry* **2007**, *53* (6), 1061-1066.

28. Guthrie, J. W.; Hamula, C. L. A.; Zhang, H. Q.; Le, X. C., Assays for cytokines using aptamers. *Methods* **2006**, *38* (4), 324-330.

29. Sassolas, A.; Blum, L. J.; Leca-Bouvier, B. D., Optical detection systems using immobilized aptamers. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* **2011**, *26* (9), 3725-3736.

30. Hem, L. H.; Niemeyer, B., A novel correlation for protein diffusion coefficients based on molecular weight and radius of gyration. *Biotechnology Progress* **2003**, *19* (2), 544-548.

31. Bohrer, M. P.; Patterson, G. D.; Carroll, P. J., Hindered diffusion of dextran and ficoll in microporous membranes. *Macromolecules* **1984**, *17* (6), 1170-1173.

32. Anderson, J. L.; Quinn, J. A., Restricted transport in small pores - model for steric exclusion and hindered particle motion. *Biophysical Journal* **1974**, *14* (2), 130-150.

33. Giddings, J. C.; Kucera, E.; Russell, C. P.; Myers, M. N., Statistical theory for the equilibrium distribution of rigid molecules in inert porous networks. Exclusion chromatography. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry* **1968**, *72* (13), 4397-4408.

34. Shao, J. H.; Baltus, R. E., Hindered diffusion of dextran and polyethylene glycol in porous membranes. *Aiche Journal* **2000**, *46* (6), 1149-1156.

35. Duo, J.; Fletcher, H.; Stenken, J. A., Natural and synthetic affinity agents as microdialysis sampling mass transport enhancers: Current progress and future perspectives. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* **2006**, *22* (3), 449-457.

36. Duo, J. Affinity Microdialysis Sampling of Cytokines. Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute Troy, New York, 2009.

37. Kim, J. S.; Ligler, F. S., Utilization of microparticles in next-generation assays for microflow cytometers. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* **2010**, *398* (6), 2373-2382.

38. Fujita, M.; Ishihara, M.; Ono, K.; Hattori, H.; Kurita, A.; Shimizu, M.; Mitsumaru, A.; Segawa, D.; Hinokiyama, K.; Kusama, Y.; Kikuchi, M.; Maehara, T., Adsorption of inflammatory cytokines using a heparin-coated extracorporeal circuit. *Artificial Organs* **2002**, *26* (12), 1020-1025.

39. Capila, I.; Linhardt, R. J., Heparin - Protein interactions. *Angewandte Chemie-International Edition* **2002**, *41* (3), 391-412.

40. Mulloy, B.; Rider, C. C., Cytokines and proteoglycans: an introductory overview. *Biochemical Society Transactions* **2006**, *34*, 409-413.

41. Varki, A.; Cummings, R. D.; Esko, J. D.; Stanley, P.; Bertozzi, G. W.; Etzler, M. E., *Proteins that Bind Sulfated Glycosaminoglycans*. Second ed.; 2009; p Chapter 35.

42. Nadkarni, V. D.; Linhardt, R. J., Directional immobilization of heparin onto the nonporous surface of polystyrene microplates. *Biotechniques* **1997**, *23* (3), 382-385.

43. Chung, H.; Kim, H.; Yoon, J.; Park, T., Heparin Immobilized Porous PLGA Microspheres for Angiogenic Growth Factor Delivery. *Pharmaceutical Research* **2006**, *23* (8), 1835-1841.

44. Li, S. N.; Yang, X. L.; Huang, W. Q., Synthesis of monodisperse polymer microspheres with mercapto groups and their application as a stabilizer for gold metallic colloid. *Macromolecular Chemistry and Physics* **2005**, *206* (19), 1967-1972.

45. Alexiou, C.; Arnold, W.; Klein, R. J.; Parak, F. G.; Hulin, P.; Bergemann, C.; Erhardt, W.; Wagenpfeil, S.; Lubbe, A. S., Locoregional cancer treatment with magnetic drug targeting. *Cancer Research* **2000**, *60* (23), 6641-6648.

46. Tan, W. H.; Takeuchi, S., A trap-and-release integrated microfluidic system for dynamic microarray applications. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **2007**, *104* (4), 1146-1151.

47. Mehta, R. V.; Upadhyay, R. V.; Charles, S. W.; Ramchand, C. N., Direct binding of protein to magnetic particles. *Biotechnology Techniques* **1997**, *11* (7), 493-496.

48. Reiss, G.; Brueckl, H.; Huetten, A.; Schotter, J.; Brzeska, M.; Panhorst, M.; Sudfeld, D.; Becker, A.; Kamp, P. B.; Puehler, A.; Wojczykowski, K.; Jutzi, P. In *Magnetoresistive sensors and magnetic nanoparticles for biotechnology*, 2005; pp 3294-3302.

49. Veyret, R.; Elaissari, A.; Marianneau, P.; Sall, A. A.; Delair, T., Magnetic colloids for the generic capture of viruses. *Analytical Biochemistry* **2005**, *346* (1), 59-68.

50. Horak, D.; Chekina, N., Preparation of magnetic poly(glycidyl methacrylate) microspheres by emulsion polymerization in the presence of sterically stabilized iron oxide nanoparticles. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science* **2006**, *102* (5), 4348-4357.

51. Sakudo, A.; Ikuta, K., Efficient capture of infectious H5 avian influenza virus utilizing magnetic beads coated with anionic polymer. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **2008**, 377 (1), 85-88.

52. Lin, C. C.; Hsu, J. L.; Lee, G. B., Sample preconcentration in microfluidic devices. *Microfluidics and Nanofluidics* **2011**, *10* (3), 481-511.

53. Rittich, B.; Spanova, A.; Horak, D., Functionalised magnetic microspheres with hydrophilic properties for molecular diagnostic applications. *Food Research International* **2009**, *42* (4), 493-498.

54. Choi, J. W.; Ahn, C. H.; Bhansali, S.; Henderson, H. T., A new magnetic bead-based, filterless bio-separator with planar electromagnet surfaces for integrated bio-detection systems. *Sensors and Actuators B-Chemical* **2000**, *68* (1-3), 34-39.

55. Sandlin, Z. D.; Shou, M. S.; Shackman, J. G.; Kennedy, R. T., Microfluidic electrophoresis chip coupled to microdialysis for in vivo monitoring of amino acid neurotransmitters. *Analytical Chemistry* **2005**, 77 (23), 7702-7708.

56. Hardouin, J.; Duchateau, M.; Joubert-Caron, R.; Caron, M., Usefulness of an integrated microfluidic device (HPLC-Chip-MS) to enhance confidence in protein identification by proteomics. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **2006**, *20* (21), 3236-3244.

57. Bai, H. Y.; Lin, S. L.; Chan, S. A.; Fuh, M. R., Characterization and evaluation of two-dimensional microfluidic chip-HPLC coupled to tandem mass spectrometry for quantitative analysis of 7-aminoflunitrazepam in human urine. *Analyst* **2010**, *135* (10), 2737-2742.

58. Lion, N.; Reymond, F.; Girault, H. H.; Rossier, J. S., Why the move to microfluidics for protein analysis? *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* **2004**, *15* (1), 31-37.

59. Hsieh, S. S.; Lin, C. Y.; Huang, C. F.; Tsai, H. H., Liquid flow in a micro-channel. *Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering* **2004**, *14* (4), 436-445.

60. Koo, J. M.; Kleinstreuer, C., Liquid flow in microchannels: experimental observations and computational analyses of microfluidics effects. *Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering* **2003**, *13* (5), 568-579.

61. Abdelall, F. F.; Hahn, G.; Ghiaasiaan, S. M.; Abdel-Khalik, S. I.; Jeter, S. S.; Yoda, M.; Sadowski, D. L., Pressure drop caused by abrupt flow area changes in small channels. *Experimental Thermal and Fluid Science* **2005**, *29* (4), 425-434.

62. Hallenbeck, K. J., Low Reynolds number water flow characteristics through rectangular micro diffusers/nozzles with a primary focus on major/minor pressure loss, static pressure recovery and flow separation. **2008**.

2 Chapter 2. Immobilization, Testing, and Pre-concentration Approach for Microfluidics Systems Applications of Heparin Functionalized Microspheres

2.1 Introduction

This chapter describes how heparin was chemically attached to amine functionalized polystyrene and carboxyl functionalized magnetic microspheres via reductive amination and EDC (N-(3-Dimethylaminopropyl)-N'-ethylcarbodiimide hydrochloride) /NHS (*N*-Hydroxy-succinimide) chemistry, respectively. Two types of surface chemistry or functionalized microspheres were used due to the commercial unavailability of amine functionalized magnetic microspheres. Therefore, two immobilization procedures were used; one for polystyrene microspheres (NH₂-functionality) and one for magnetic microspheres (COOH-functionality). After immobilization the amount of heparin on the microspheres was measured following hydrolysis using a liquid chromatography with pulsed amperometric detection (LC-PAD) system. Following this measurement the heparin-functionalized microspheres were tested for their binding capacity with cytokines (MCP-1 and TNF-α) by measuring the interactions between them using two equilibrium methods, see below. In other to prove that heparin functionalized microspheres could be used to reach ~ 100% of cytokines bound, a set of equations was derived and calculations were performed. These calculations were based on reported binding constant values for interactions between cytokines and heparin.

2.1.1 Immobilization and characterization of heparin

2.1.1.1 Magnetic microspheres

In order to trap and release cytokines from magnetic microspheres several experiments were conducted. First, heparin was immobilized onto carboxyl functionalized superparamagnetic microspheres of 6.3 µm mean diameter using the immobilization procedure described by Chung, et al.¹ Second, the amount of heparin immobilized onto the magnetic microspheres was quantified using a LC-PAD method similar to a method used by Duo² combined with a modified acid hydrolysis method.³ The method used by Duo uses based on the quantitation of glucosamine present in heparin after acid hydrolysis. The amount of glucosamine present in heparin after acid hydrolysis.

acid hydrolysis method used.⁴ Moreover, according to Rohrer et al., glucosamine is the only monosaccharide present in heparin after acid hydrolysis.⁵

2.1.1.2 Polymeric microspheres

Heparin was attached to amine functionalized polystyrene microspheres of 6 microns via reductive amination.² The quantitation of heparin immobilized on the polystyrene microspheres was performed by using the same procedure mentioned in section 2.1.1.1 and more fully described in section 2.2.3.1. The idea of using heparin functionalized polystyrene microspheres was to demonstrate that cytokines could be pre-concentrated in a bead-based microfluidic system coupled to microdialysis sampling. In addition, heparin is cheaper than antibodies. However, antibodies are more specific than heparin. In other words, heparin can bind more than one biomolecule or cytokine. This can have a great impact during *in vivo* experiments and would certainly need to be tested as future work.

2.1.2 Testing of heparin functionalized microspheres

2.1.2.1 Polymeric microspheres

To test the heparin-functionalized polystyrene microspheres interactions with cytokines equilibrium dialysis was used. Equilibrium dialysis is a technique commonly used to evaluate binding interactions between biomolecules of different molecular weights (ligand and receptor).⁶⁻⁸ Typically an equilibrium dialysis system is composed of two chambers and a membrane separating them, see Figure 2.1.^{6.8}



Figure 2.1 Schematic representation of the equilibrium dialysis system used to measure the heparincytokines interaction.⁶

In principle the idea of conducting equilibrium dialysis experiments is to allow a small ligand (smaller than membrane pore size) to diffuse across a membrane to interact with a receptor or other biomolecule that is retained due to the membrane pore size.⁶⁻⁸ In other words, the ligand diffuses across the membrane and interacts with the receptor whereas the receptor cannot diffuse across the membrane to interact with the ligand due to its molecular weight being greater than the molecular weight cutoff of the membrane. At equilibrium, the concentration of the small ligand (free) will be the same in both chambers.⁶⁻⁸ This allows calculation of the amount of ligand bound to the receptor by measuring the free concentration of the ligand and conducting a mass balance. Even though equilibrium dialysis experiments are commonly conducted by using biomolecules of different molecular weights, binding interactions between biomolecules of the same or similar molecular weights can be performed as well under certain conditions. For instance, the equilibrium dialysis system used for studying the binding interactions between heparin (~12 kDa) and cytokines (8 to 80 kDa) was composed of two chambers of 25 µL each and a cellulose acetate membrane of 100 kDa molecular cut off (MWCO).⁶ In this instance both heparin and cytokines have similar molecular weights and are smaller than the membrane pore size. However, since heparin is attached to the 6 µm polystyrene microspheres, this prevents heparin from diffusing across the membrane. This way only cytokines can diffuse through the membrane pores.

2.1.2.2 Magnetic microspheres

To test the heparin-functionalized magnetic microspheres, ratMCP-1 and ratTNF-α were used. Heparin-functionalized magnetic microspheres and cytokines were incubated in plastic vials to test their binding interactions.² The method used to study this interaction was the same used by Duo.² His method consisted of placing equal volumes of a solution of heparin-functionalized microspheres in PBS and cytokine solution (in the same buffer) in a plastic vial and incubated it for two hours (i.e. MCP-1) at room temperature unless otherwise stated (see experimental section).²

2.1.3 Proof of principal pre-concentration approach using heparin functionalized polystyrene microspheres

To evaluate the limitations of using heparin immobilized on microspheres to trap and release and pre-concentrate cytokines and to have an estimate of the amount of heparin-immobilized beads needed to achieve a particular pre-concentration, several calculations were conducted. These calculations were compared to the binding values obtained from the equilibrium experiments of section 2.1.2. The following set of calculations for the heparin-cytokines chemical interactions assuming a 1:1 binding interaction, which is commonly used for binding calculations,⁹⁻¹² and using reported binding constants of heparin-binding cytokines.²

2.1.3.1 Calculations set up

H = Heparin; C = Cytokine; HC = Complex (Heparin - Cytokine); [H]_f = Concentration of free heparin;

 $[C]_f$ = Concentration of free cytokine; $[H]_T$ = Total concentration of heparin; $[C]_T$ = Total concentration of cytokines; [HC] = Concentration of the complex

Chemical equilibrium

Equation 2.1 Binding constant

$$K_{\rm D} = \frac{k_{\rm off}}{k_{\rm on}} = \frac{[\rm H]_{\rm f}.[\rm C]_{\rm f}}{[\rm HC]}$$

Equation 2.2 [H]_T = [H]_f + [HC] \therefore Equation 2.3 [H]_f = [H]_T – [HC]

Equation 2.4 $[C]_T = [C]_f + [HC]$: Equation 2.5 $[C]_{\underline{f}} = [C]_T - [HC]$

Substituting equation 2.3 and 2.5 in equation 2.1 $\,\div\,$

Equation 2.6

$$K_{D} = \frac{([H]_{T} - [HC])([C_{T}] - [HC])}{[HC]}$$

Rearranging equation 2.6 \therefore K_D [HC] = ([H]_T - [HC]) ([C]_T - [HC]) \therefore

 K_{D} [HC] = [H]_T [C]_T - [C]_T [HC] - [H]_T [HC] + [HC]² :

 $[C]_{T}[H]_{T} + [HC]K_{D} - [HC][H]_{T} - [HC][C]_{T} - [HC]^{2} = 0$

Common factor [HC] \therefore Equation 2.7 [H]_T[C]_T + [HC] (K_D + [H]_T + [C]_T) – [HC]² = 0

: **Equation 2.7** has the form $ax^2 + bx + c = 0$ and we can apply the quadratic formula,

$$x = \frac{-b \pm \sqrt{b^2 - 4ac}}{2a}$$

 $x = [HC]; a = 1; b = -([H]_T + [C]_T + K_D); c = [H]_T[C]_T$

: Equation 2.8

$$[HC] = \frac{([H_T] + [C_T] + K_D) \pm \sqrt{([H_T] + [C_T] + K_D)^2 - 4([H_T] [C_T])}}{2(1)}$$

Equation 2.8 was used to estimate the percentage of cytokine bound to heparin at different initial heparin concentrations for a specific amount of initial cytokine concentration. The results calculated from this equation are shown in the results section, Table 2.3. The change on the percentage of cytokine bound to heparin as a function of the initial heparin concentration was evaluated for a fixed initial cytokine concentration of 1.0 nM (see Figure 2.7).

2.1.4 Hemacytometer

The microspheres concentration (magnetic or polymeric) used in all the experiments in this thesis were measured using a hemacytometer. This technique is commonly used to count blood cells in samples. According to Warren "a hemacytometer is a special type of microscope slide that is divided into squares of a defined area over which a defined volume of cell suspension is distributed".¹³ To explain, microspheres in solution are placed in the hemacytometer chambers and counted one by one under a microscope.¹³ Other methods for counting microspheres include ImageJ, a freeware software used to process images.¹⁴ This software processes images coming from a microscope with a video system.

This chapter is going to focus on the immobilization, quantitation, and testing of heparin immobilized onto polymeric or magnetic microspheres and proof of principle of pre-concentration approach for microfluidics systems applications.

2.2 Experimental Section

2.2.1 Chemicals

Carboxyl functionalized superparamagnetic microspheres (3.45 × 10⁸ beads/mL) of 6.3 µm mean diameter (COMPEL) were obtained from Bangs Laboratories, Inc. (Fishers, IN). Amine functionalized

polystyrene microspheres (6.00 μm o.do, stock concentration of 2.10 x 10⁸ particles/ml in water) were purchased from Polysciences, Inc (Warrington, PA). *N*-Hydroxy-succinimide (NHS), N-(3-Dimethylaminopropyl)-N'-ethylcarbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC), 2- morpholinoethanoesulfonic acid (MES), albumin, from bovine serum (BSA), heparin sodium salt (from porcine intestinal mucosa), D-(+)-Glucosamine hydrochloride were from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). The hemacytometer was purchased from Hausser Scientific (Horsham, PA). A liquid chromatography instrument (LC) was used (Shimadzu LC-10AD, Japan). An anion-exchange column, Dionex CarboPac PA1 (250 x 2mm), with a CarboPac PA1 Guard column (50 x 2 mm) were used (Sunnyvale, CA). The detector was a Decade EC detector with a gold electrode (Antec Leyden, The Netherlands). Micro-Equilibrium Dialyzer of 25 μL and Cellulose Acetate membrane MWCO 100 kDa were purchased from Harvard Apparatus (Holliston, Massachusetts).⁶ Standards (recombinant proteins) and ELISA kits for rat MCP-1 and rat TNF respectively were obtained from BD Biosciences (San Diego, CA). All other chemicals used were analytical grade unless otherwise stated.

2.2.2 Immobilization of heparin onto microspheres

2.2.2.1 Carboxyl functionalized superparamagnetic

Heparin was immobilized on carboxyl functionalized magnetic microspheres of 6.3µm using the same procedure that Chung, et al., reported for the immobilization of heparin on carboxyl porous poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) microspheres.¹ Typically 200 µL of stock solution of carboxyl functionalized superparamagnetic microspheres (3.45×10^8 beads/mL) were washed three times with 200 µL 0.1 M MES buffer (pH 5.5) and reconstituted with the same buffer. After that 47.9 mg of EDC and 28.8 mg of NHS were added to the solution followed by the addition of 30 mg/mL of heparin. This solution was incubated overnight under constant rotation.¹ After the incubation the amount of heparin immobilized was determined by using an acid hydrolysis method combined with a LC-PAD system, see section 2.2.3.

2.2.2.2 Amine functionalized polystyrene

The protocol for the immobilization of heparin was as follows: 200 μ L of stock solution of amine functionalized polystyrene microspheres (2.10 x 10⁸ beads/mL) was taken and washed three times with 1 mL of 0.2 M sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.0 and then reconstituted in 1.5 mL of the same buffer having

30 mg/mL of heparin and 3 mg/mL of NaCNBH₃. After that the colloidal solution was incubated on a microplate shaker at 1000 rpm at room temperature for 2 days. To be able to compare the amount of heparin immobilized onto the microspheres control microspheres were prepared following the above procedure without heparin. The solution containing the microspheres was washed three times with 0.2 M sodium acetate buffer, pH 7.0 to eliminate any non-covalently bound components and reconstituted in 1 mL of the buffer. Then 1 mL of acetic anhydride was added to the colloidal solution and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature to deactivate the unreacted amine groups. Next, the microspheres were washed with HPLC water, 0.1 M NaOH, and 10 mM phosphate buffered saline (PBS) pH 7.4. The colloidal solution was stored in 10 mM PBS pH 7.4 containing 0.05% sodium azide.² Before and after heparin immobilization, microspheres were counted using a hemocytometer in order to determine if any microspheres were lost during the immobilization process. To clarify, 10 µL of the microspheres solution was placed in each chamber, placed under microscope, and counted. The heparin concentration immobilized to the microspheres was determined by hydrolyzing the microspheres solution and quantifying it as the amount of glucosamine present after acid hydrolysis. The standards were used based on the heparin lot used for immobilization to diminish any lot variation as heparin is very heterogeneous and can vary from lot to lot.

2.2.3 Characterization or quantitation of heparin immobilized

2.2.3.1 Polystyrene and superparamagnetic microspheres

The acid hydrolization process used was a modified version of the method for heparin quantitation found on the Pharmacopeial Forum.³ A glucosamine standard solution was prepared by taking ~0.2 mg/mL of glucosamine hydrochloride RS in 4.8 M hydrochloric acid. An aliquot of ~625 µL of this standard solution was transferred to a 2.0 mL graduated plastic vial with attached lid, and heated for 6 h at 100°C in a sand bath. Then the heated solution place in a micro-vial rack at ambient temperature for one hour and then was quantitatively transferred to a 2 mL volumetric flask, and diluted with HPLC grade water to volume. The standard solution of heparin was prepared by transferring a known weight of heparin sodium (targeted ~1.5 mg) to a 2 mL graduated vial with attached lid, dissolved in 2 mL of 4.8 M hydrochloric acid, and capped. The standard solution of heparin was heated for 6 hours at 100°C in a sand bath, then the solution was placed in a micro-vial rack until it reached room temperature, and diluted with HPLC

grade water (3 in 50) unless otherwise stated (2 mL volumetric flask). Heparin-functionalized polymeric or magnetic microspheres were hydrolyzed and the concentrations of glucosamine obtained were compared to the standard solutions. After hydrolysis the microspheres were centrifuged and the supernatant was diluted (3:50) in HPLC-grade water. Several calibration curves were generated with the hydrolyzed standards prepared above. First, the hydrolyzed heparin was used to generate a calibration curve based on the amount of glucosamine. Second, the standard solution of hydrolyzed glucosamine of different concentrations was used to generate a calibration curve and compare analyzed amounts to the free hydrolyzed heparin, see Figure 2.2. The amount of glucosamine in the hydrolysate from the microspheres, and standard solution of glucosamine were quantified by ion-exchange chromatography with pulsed amperometric detection (LC-PAD). An anion-exchange column, Dionex CarboPac PA1, with a CarboPac PA1 Guard column was used. The detector was a Decade EC detector with a gold electrode in the pulse potentials and time durations of $E_1 = +0.05$ V, $t_1 = 400$ ms; $E_2 = +0.75$ V, $t_2 = 200$ ms; $E_3 = -0.75$ V, $t_3 = 400$ ms.² The mobile phase used was 95 mM sodium hydroxide with 10 mM sodium acetate, and the injection volume 10 µL. The flow rate for the LC was 0.25 mL/min using an isocratic mode.²

2.2.4 Testing of heparin immobilized

2.2.4.1 Polystyrene microspheres

A standard solution of rat MCP-1 (289 ng/mL according to the label) was used to prepare the standards for the ELISA, and solutions used in equilibrium dialysis experiments. An aliquot of 25 μ L of heparin functionalized polystyrene microspheres (4.48 x10⁻⁷ beads/mL) with a total concentration of 5.22 x 10⁻⁷ M of heparin was placed in one of the equilibrium dialyzer chambers and 25 μ L of 0.1 or 1.0 nM (reported MW 26.2 kDa)² ratMCP-1 diluted in 10mM phosphate buffer saline (PBS, pH 7.4) containing 0.05% BSA were placed on the other chamber (Figure 2.1).⁶ Controls were prepared as follows: a) 25 μ L of the same ratMCP-1 solution was placed in one chamber, and 25 μ L of the same buffer was placed on the other chamber (and b) 50 μ L of the same ratMCP-1 solution was placed in one chamber. To allow equilibrium to occur. The time frame of two hours were chosen based on the binding kinetics data reported by Duo for MCP-1 and heparin functionalized microspheres.² The control placed in the plastic vial was incubated with no rotation. After two hours 5 μ L aliquot from each equilibrium dialyzer

chamber was taken and diluted in 126 μ L of ELISA kit assay diluent. Also, 13 μ L aliquot from the plastic vial was diluted in 327 μ L of the assay diluent. Standards solutions of ratMCP-1 for ELISA kit were prepared according to the BD Biosciences procedure (standards were diluted in assay diluent as well).



Figure 2.2 Flow chart of the method used to determine the amount of heparin immobilized onto the microspheres based on the glucosamine content.

A calibration curve of ratMCP-1 standards was used to calculate the concentration of samples and controls. These experiments were performed in triplicate.

2.2.4.2 Magnetic microspheres

The method for trapping and releasing cytokines was similar to the method used by Duo.² A solution, 100 µL, of heparin-functionalized magnetic microspheres (3.90 × 10^8 beads/mL) with a total concentration of 4.98 x 10^{-7} M of heparin in 10 mM PBS (pH 7.6) was placed in a plastic vial along with a 100 µL solution of either ratMCP-1 (15 ng/mL) or rat TNF- α (5 ng/mL) in the same buffer at different concentrations. These concentrations were selected based on the estimated values of the amount of cytokines bound to heparin, see section 2.1.3 and Table 2.3, and the volume (\geq 50 µL) and concentration needed to make three measurements using the ELISA kit within the kit's concentration range (31.3 to 2000 pg/mL).¹⁵ The concentration of ratMCP-1 used was higher compared to rat TNF- α because MCP-1 has a higher affinity to heparin, see Table 2.3. In other words, in order to obtain a free concentration of MCP-1 within the kit's concentration range a higher initial concentration was used. The plastic vial containing both solutions was incubated at room temperature for 2 hrs. After incubation, the supernatant was removed and the cytokine content in the supernatant was determined using the corresponding rat MCP-1 or rat TNF- α ELISA kit.

A TecanSPECTRAFluor 96-wells plate reader was used to read the absorbance at 450 nm, wavelength correction was used to subtract absorbance at 570 nm from absorbance 450 nm according to the BD Biosciences technical data sheet.¹⁵ The concentration of cytokines bound to the heparin-functionalized magnetic beads was determined by subtracting the initial or free concentration of cytokines that was placed in the vials before incubation to the free concentration of cytokines after incubation or centrifugation. In other words, the concentration of cytokines bound to the heparin-functionalized magnetic microspheres was calculated by difference (initial minus free = bound).

2.2.5 Proof of concept pre-concentration approach using heparin functionalized polystyrene microspheres

2.2.5.1 Estimations

Equation 2.8 was configured in a Microsoft Office Excel 2007 spreadsheet to facilitate the calculations. A set of calculations were performed manually or by hand to confirm the spreadsheet set up was working. The steps followed to estimate the amount of heparin functionalized microspheres require to achieve ~ hundred percent of cytokines bound to heparin were: a) The concentration of heparin

immobilized on 6 μ m microspheres ([HB]) used was 15.7 x 10⁶ heparin molecules per bead, b) the initial concentration ([B]) value used for "plain" microspheres or without heparin was 7.70 x 10⁵ beads/mL, and c) the final concentration of heparin immobilized on the microspheres ([HB]) was calculated based on the following equation:

$$[HB] = \frac{[HB] [B] 1000}{6.023 \times 10^{23}}$$

2.3 Results and discussion

2.3.1 Characterization or quantitation of heparin immobilized

The amount of heparin immobilized on either heparin-functionalized polystyrene microspheres or heparin-functionalized magnetic microspheres was calculated using the appropriate calibration curve, and the calculated glucosamine content ~35.0% and ~27.0%, respectively. Different heparin lots were used to make polystyrene and magnetic microspheres. That is why the glucosamine content was different, see section 2.2.2.2. Glucosamine content was calculated as follows: a) The peak areas of heparin hydrolyzed standards, were plugged in the equations generated by the calibration curves to determine the concentration of glucosamine, b) The concentrations of glucosamine from "a" were divided by the predicted concentrations of the heparin solutions or standards prepared (before acid hydrolysis), c) The results of "b" were averaged and used as the glucosamine content. In order to determine the amount of heparin measured (after hydrolysis) indirectly the concentration of glucosamine calculated using the calibration curve were divided by the glucosamine content. The concentration of heparin on heparin-functionalized polystyrene and magnetic microspheres after acid hydrolysis measured using LC-PAD, see Figure 2.3, and calculated as explained before is shown in Table 2.1.

 Table 2.1
 Amount of heparin on heparin-functionalized polystyrene and magnetic microspheres

 measured using LC-PAD after acid hydrolysis

Microspheres type	Microspheres concentration (beads/mL)	Heparin concentration (M)
Polystyrene	4.48 x 10 ⁷	$5.22 \times 10^{-7} \pm 0.32 \times 10^{-7}$
Magnetic	3.90 x 10 ⁸	$4.98 \times 10^{-7} \pm 0.08 \times 10^{-7}$

The amount of heparin-functionalized magnetic microspheres used was higher $(3.90 \times 10^8 \text{ beads/mL})$ than the amount of heparin-functionalized polystyrene microspheres (4.48 × 10^7 beads/ mL), but the heparin concentration on polystyrene and magnetic microspheres were approximately the same, see Table 2.1. The amounts of microspheres used were different, because each stock of microspheres (polystyrene and magnetic) came with different concentration. The reason why a 10 fold difference between the amount of heparin-functionalized magnetic and polystyrene microspheres yield approximately the same amount of heparin immobilized could be due to the efficiency of the coupling chemistry used due to the differences in available surface chemistries for the beads.

2.3.2 Testing of heparin immobilized

2.3.2.1 Polystyrene microspheres

The interaction of heparin-functionalized polystyrene microspheres and MCP-1 was used to test the binding capacity of the heparin beads. The method used was equilibrium dialysis. The experimental results were compared to the estimated values, see Table 2.2. The difference between experiment and theory were 4.25% for 0.1 nM and 15.08% for 1.0 nM. Since the reported K_D values were used for the estimations this could explain the difference between experiment and theory.

2.3.2.2 Magnetic microspheres

In order to test the heparin-functionalized magnetic beads a different approach was used. This method was used to minimize the non-specific binding of cytokines. The microspheres were incubated in a plastic vial with either MCP-1 or TNF- α as explained in section 2.2.4.2. The percentage of MCP-1 bound was 70.38% and for TNF- α was 11.07%, see Table 2.3. These values were expected because MCP-1 has a higher reported heparin affinity (K_D) than TNF- α , see Table 2.5.



Figure 2.3 Chromatograms of standards of glucosamine, hydrolyzed heparin and heparinfunctionalized microspheres after hydrolysis.

 Table 2.2 Comparison of estimated and experiment of percentage of rat MCP-1 bound to heparin

 functionalized polystyrene microspheres

ratMCP-1						
Initial concentration of heparin (µM)	Initial concentration of ratMCP-1 (M)	*Reported binding constant (K _D , nM)	% of cytokine bound			
0.52 ± 0.03	1.00 x 10 ⁻⁹	6 60 ± 0 80	98.75			
0.02 ± 0.00	1.00 x 10 ⁻¹⁰	0.00 ± 0.00	98.75			
	Coloulated hinding					
		constant (K _D , nM)				
	1.00 x 10 ⁻⁹	100.02	**83.67			
2	1.00 x 10 ⁻¹⁰	30.40	***94.50			

*², **n = 3, ***n = 2

The estimated and calculated percentages of ratMCP-1 and rat TNF- α bound to heparin immobilized polystyrene and magnetic microspheres were compared see Table 2.4.The differences between estimated and calculated percentages for those cytokines were 28.31% and 31.56%, respectively. The difference between the calculated percentages (using measured values) of ratMCP-1 bound to heparin immobilized polystyrene and magnetic microspheres (1.0 nM and 0.57 nM respectively) was 13.29%. The estimated percentages (using estimated and reported values) difference was almost negligible (0.06%).

2.3.3 Proof of principal pre-concentration approach using heparin functionalized polystyrene microspheres

2.3.3.1 Estimations

Several calculations were performed using Equation 2.8. These estimations were conducted for MCP-1, TNF- α , IL-6, INF- γ , and IL-10 using reported K_D values measured using different techniques and conditions, see Table 2.5. The initial concentration of cytokines used was 1.0 nM and the initial concentration of heparin was varied from 3.68 x 10⁻¹⁰ M to 3.68 x 10⁻² M. The reason why this range of concentration was used was that Duo² conducted similar calculations using 3.68 x 10⁻⁹ M. However, he did not show how the calculations were conducted. After conducting my calculations I decided to use his calculations as a reference and to be able to compare our results I used the same initial concentration that he used. I obtained similar as Duo.

Table 2.3 ratMCP-1 and ratTNF- α controls concentration in low binding plastic vials, in equilibrium dialysis chambers, concentration of free cytokines, and percentages of cytokines bound to heparin-functionalized magnetic microspheres or heparin after incubation at room temperature for 2 hours.

ratMCP-1				
Control in chambers	Sample	% Bound	% Bound (Est.)	
(ng/mL)	(ng/mL)	(Exp.)		
13.58 ± 0.36	4.02 ± 0.23	70.38 ± 1.71	98.69	
	ratTNF-α			
Control in chambers	Sample		% Bound	
(ng/mL)	(ng/mL)	% Bound	(Est.)	
*5.12	4.56 ± 0.25	*11.07	42.63	

Table 2.4 Comparison of the estimated and calculated percentages of ratMCP-1 bound to heparin

 immobilized polystyrene and magnetic microspheres

Heparin-polystyrene beads					
Initial concentration of heparin (μM)	I Initial ation concentration of constant (K _D , nM) α (μΜ) ratMCP-1 (M)		% of cytokine bound		
0.52 ± 0.03	1.00 x 10 ⁻⁹ 1.00 x 10 ⁻¹⁰	6.60 ± 0.80	98.75 98.75		
Cal co		Calculated binding constant (K _D , nM)			
	1.00 x 10 ⁻⁹	100.02	**83.67		
	1.00 x 10 ⁻¹⁰	30.40	***94.50		
	Heparin-magne	etic beads			
Initial concentration of heparin (µM	Initial concentration of ratMCP-1 (M)	*Reported binding constant (K _D , nM)	% of cytokine bound		
0.49 ± 0.01	0.57 x 10 ⁻⁹	6.60 ± 0.80	98.69		
		constant (K _D , nM)	bound		
		208.75	70.38 ± 1.71		

*², **n = 3, ***n = 2

After that I conducted a set of calculations as shown on Table 2.5. It was theoretically found (based on the calculations) that if an initial concentration of cytokine lower than 1.0 nM and any initial concentration of heparin is used the calculate percentage of cytokine bound to heparin is negligible or constant (data not shown). In other words, below concentrations of 1.0 nM the estimated % of cytokines bound to heparin for any initial concentration of heparin remains almost constant. This is a very important finding for the study of the interactions between heparin and cytokines of cytokine concentrations lower than 1.0 nM.

Several binding curves were generated to ensure that the estimations and derived equation were in agreement with the fact that for this type of calculations the K_D of a biomolecule correspond to the inflection point of its binding curve.¹⁶ In Figure 2.5 can be seen how each cytokine K_D value correspond to its binding curve inflection point. The amount of heparin required to achieve ~ 100% of cytokines bound for a fixed initial concentration of cytokines (1.0 nM) was related to the amount of heparin-functionalized microspheres. This was done to estimate the size of the microfluidic trapping area needed to preconcentrate the cytokines assuming the heparin content to the microspheres and the total microspheres per mL are known. In Table 2.6 the amount of beads highlighted in red represent the amount of heparin-functionalized microspheres necessary to obtain ~ 100% of cytokines bound. For MCP-1 and TNF- α , the amount of heparin-functionalized required is higher (7.70 x 10⁹ beads/mL) compared to IL-6, INF- γ , and IL-10 (7.70 x 10⁸ beads/mL). These estimations helped with the microfluidic system design, see Chapter 3.

Initial			К _D (М)			
concentration of Heparin (M)	6.70e-07 ¹⁷	2.00e-07 ¹⁸	7.47e-08 ¹⁷	5.40e-08 ¹⁹	6.60e-09 ²	
	TNF-α	IL-6	INF-γ	IL-10	MCP-1	
3.68e-10	0.05	0.18	0.48	0.66	4.65	
3.68e-09 ²	0.55	1.8	4.64	6.28	33.63	
3.68e-08	5.20	15.49	32.81	40.26	84.49	
3.68e-07	35.43	64.75	83.09	87.18	98.23	
3.68e-06	84.59	94.84	98.01	98.55	99.82	% of Cytokine
3.68e-05	98.21	99.46	99.80	99.85	99.98	bound
3.68e-04	99.82	99.95	99.98	99.99	100.00	
3.68e-03	99.98	99.99	100.00	100.00	100.00	
3.68e-02	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	

Table 2.5 Estimated values of the percentage of cytokines bound to heparin at different [H]_f values

Note: Numbers in red indicate the initial concentration of heparin required to achieve ~100% of cytokines

bound.



Figure 2.5 Relationship between percentages of cytokines bound and initial or free heparin at different concentrations

Table 2.6 Estimated amount of heparin, [HB], immobilized on amine functionalized microspheres of 6 microns, [B], based on a reported value of 15.7×10^6 heparin molecules per bead, [HB],² at different initial concentrations of heparin [H]_f.

[HB] (heparin molecules/bead)	[B] (beads/mL)	[HB] (M)	Estimated target [H] _f (M)*
	7.70x10 ⁵	2.01x10 ⁻⁸	
	7.70x10 ⁵	2.01x10 ⁻⁷	
	7.70x10 ⁷	2.01x10 ⁻⁶	
15.7x10 ⁶	7.70x10 ⁸	*2.01x10 ⁻⁵	*3.68x10 ⁻⁵
	7.70x10 ⁹	2.01x10-4	3.68x10-4
1	7_70x10 ¹⁰	2.01x10-3	3.68x10 ⁻³
- 	7.70x10 ¹¹	2.01x10 ⁻²	3.68x10 ⁻²

Note: Numbers in read mean the minimum amount of heparin-functionalized beads required to achieve ~ 100% of cytokines bound related to Table 2.5.*

2.4 Conclusion

Heparin was chemically immobilized on two different types of microspheres (amine functionalized polymeric and carboxyl functionalized magnetic). Heparin immobilized to each bead set was quantified using acid hydrolysis and LC-PAD. The binding affinity of cytokines with heparin-immobilized polymeric and magnetic microspheres was quantified using equilibrium dialysis and "plastic vial mixing" and incubation methods. The purpose of these studies was to relate the amount of heparin immobilized onto the microspheres to the microspheres concentration. In other words, I wanted to determine how many microspheres were required to obtain an "x" concentration of heparin to further capture an expected "y" concentration of cytokines. It was estimated theoretically based on experimental data how many microspheres with a known heparin content were necessary to achieve one hundred percent binding of cytokines. These estimations and experiments served as a fundamental base for the pre-concentration of cytokines. For the heparin immobilized polymeric microspheres after equilibrium dialysis (ratMCP-1) the difference between estimated and experimental values were 4.25% for 0.1 nM and 15.08% for 1.0 nM.

For heparin immobilized magnetic microspheres after "plastic vial mixing" and incubation (ratMCP-1 and ratTNF- α) the difference on the percentages were 28.31% and 31.56% respectively. The difference between the experimental values of the percentages bound between heparin immobilized polymeric and magnetic microspheres for ratMCP-1 was 13.29%. However, the difference between the estimated values was almost negligible (0.06%). These differences could be due to the fact that the cytokine K_D values used were obtained from the literature in which each value were obtain under difference was lower than expected. Finally, this work showed that cytokines could be pre-concentrated into a trap and release microfluidic systems using microspheres with chemical affinity for cytokines.

2.5 References

1. Chung, H.; Kim, H.; Yoon, J.; Park, T., Heparin Immobilized Porous PLGA Microspheres for Angiogenic Growth Factor Delivery. *Pharmaceutical Research* **2006**, *23* (8), 1835-1841.

2. Duo, J. Affinity Microdialysis Sampling of Cytokines. Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute Troy, New York, 2009.

3. Interim revision announcement. *Pharmacopeial Forum* **2009**, 35 (5), 1-4.

4. Ander, B.; Karlsson, A.; Ohrlund, A., Determination of heparin on intraocular lens surfaces by ion chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2001**, *917* (1-2), 105-110.

5. Rohrer, S. J.; Hurum, C. D.; Christison, T. T.; De Borba, M. B. Evaluation of the Two Ion Chromatography Methods in the Proposed Revision of the United States Pharmacopeia (USP) Heparin Sodium Monograph 2009. <u>www.dionex.com/en-us/webdocs/81364-PO-IC-Heparin-Sulfate-monograph-21Mar2011-LPN2788-01.pdf</u>.

6. Bioscience, H., Guide to Equilibrium Dialysis. Harvard Apparatus, I., Ed. The Nest Group, Inc: <u>www.nestgrp.com</u>, 2002; pp 1-28.

7. Katz, S. A.; Paritt, C.; Purdy, R., Equilibrium dialysis: A laboratory experiment. *Journal of Chemical Education* **1970**, *47* (10), 721-null.

8. Weidemann, T.; Seifert, J. M.; Hintersteiner, M.; Auer, M., Analysis of Protein-Small Molecule Interactions by Microscale Equilibrium Dialysis and Its Application As a Secondary Confirmation Method for on-Bead Screening. *Journal of Combinatorial Chemistry* **2010**, *12* (5), 647-654.

9. Nahshol, O.; Bronner, V.; Notcovich, A.; Rubrecht, L.; Laune, D.; Bravman, T., Parallel kinetic analysis and affinity determination of hundreds of monoclonal antibodies using the ProteOn XPR36. *Analytical Biochemistry* **2008**, *3*83 (1), 52-60.

10. Garrus, J. E.; von Schwedler, U. K.; Pornillos, O. W.; Morham, S. G.; Zavitz, K. H.; Wang, H. E.; Wettstein, D. A.; Stray, K. M.; Cote, M.; Rich, R. L.; Myszka, D. G.; Sundquist, W. I., Tsg101 and the vacuolar protein sorting pathway are essential for HIV-1 budding. *Cell* **2001**, *107*(1), 55-65.

11. Hage, D. S., Chromatographic and electrophoretic studies of protein binding to chiral solutes. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2001**, *906* (1-2), 459-481.

12. Wang, Y. X.; Stenken, J. A., Affinity-based microdialysis sampling using heparin for in vitro collection of human cytokines. *Analytica Chimica Acta* **2009**, *651* (1), 105-111.

13. Strober, W., Monitoring Cell Growth. In *Current Protocols in Immunology*, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: 2001.

14. Igathinathane, C.; Pordesimo, L. O.; Columbus, E. P.; Batchelor, W. D.; Methuku, S. R., Shape identification and particles size distribution from basic shape parameters using ImageJ. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* **2008**, *63* (2), 168-182.

15. Biosciences, B. Technical Data Sheet Rat ELISA Set. http://www.bdbiosciences.com/external_files/pm/doc/tds/opteia/live/web_enabled/558535.pdf.

16. Wyman, J.; Gill J., S., Binding and Linkage: Functional Chemistry of Biological Macromolecules. University Science Books: 1990. http://books.google.com/books?id=daxAKIHw7qQC&pg=PA33&lpg=PA33&dq=binding+curve+reversible+ <u>binding&source=bl&ots=nyJownRunv&sig=xTI0VTkFCrzECypYWPi8nrNrShk&hl=en&ei=bxtxTtLhEaqNs</u> <u>QLI_u3ICQ&sa=X&oi=book_result&ct=result&resnum=3&ved=0CCkQ6AEwAjgK#v=onepage&q=binding</u> %20curve%20reversible%20binding&f=false.

17. Yu, H. Studies of the interaction of heparin with protein using improved sensorchips. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Iowa, 2005.

18. Mummery, R. S.; Rider, C. C., Characterization of the heparin-binding properties of IL-6. *Journal of Immunology* **2000**, *165* (10), 5671-5679.

19. Salek-Ardakani, S.; Arrand, J. R.; Shaw, D.; Mackett, M., Heparin and heparan sulfate bind interleukin-10 and modulate its activity. *Blood* **2000**, *96* (5), 1879-1888.

3 Chapter 3. Design, fabrication, and testing of pre-concentrator microfluidic system

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter a simple microfluidic system was created to test the usefulness of heparinimmobilized magnetic microspheres for the pre-concentration of cytokines after microdialysis sampling. The microfluidic system created is the first system that have been developed using a circular trapping area to pre-concentrate cytokines. The designed microfluidic system used pressure differences as the driven force for the fluid. That played an important role on choosing the channels and overall dimensions of the device in order to facilate fluid flow in the system and to understand the limititations of the system in term of flow rate. I was able to use relative high flow rate (10.0 µL per minute) without any leakage for a system (PDMS-glass) held together by weake forces or Van der Waals forces. Nevertheless, one of the literature. In other words lack of a well-understood and comprehensive fluid mechanics theories for microfluidics makes the design and characterization of such systems a challenge.

3.1.1 Theory and estimations

Several assumptions were made to be able to estimate the pressure drop of the developed microfluidic system based on the hydraulic resistance of connected straight channels, the Hagen-Poiseuille law, and Kirchhoff's laws or equivalent circuit theory, see Figure 3.1.¹ For pressure driven fluids microfluidic systems it is common to use the equivalent circuit theory to predict the pressure drop and analyse or modify designs using well understood electrical circuit theory.¹⁻⁵ The aim of this chapter was to explain how the microfluidic system was developed and tested.

3.2 Design and fabrication

The proposed microfluidic system consisted of several parts: a) A fluidic part having two straight channels of 0.1 mm (inlet) and 0.2 mm (outlet) having a circular trapping area of 3.6 mm (internal diameter) between them, see Figure 3.2. The height (0.1 mm) was the same for each channel and trapping area. The circular trapping area had a volume of ~1 μ L equivalent to an estimated amount of ~9 x 10⁶ magnetic microspheres of 6 μ m in diameter. It was made of polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS), flexible

polymer commonly used for microfluidic fabrication,⁶ and b) planar micro-electromagnetic trapping system. The latter is part of the future work.



Figure 3.1 Equivalent circuit approach of three straight channels in series used to estimate the pressure drop in the designed microfluidic system, see 3.5.2. a) Inlet and outlet channels, b) circular trapping area showing the assumption that the cross sectional area of the circle was equal to the cross sectional area of a "square", c) the microfludic system. This figure was redrawn and adapted from reference 1.

Several steps were followed for the fabrication of the microfluidic system. First of all, a 2D sketch was drawn on AutoCAD 2011 provided by the University of Arkansas' computer lab, see Figure 3.2. The dimensions chosen for the design were based on the microfabrication capabilities of the University of Arkansas' High Density Electronics Center (HiDEC), and cost. The inlet and outlet microchannels dimensions were designed to minimize backpressure and to reduce leakage. The idea was to design and fabricate a system as straightforward, inexpensive, and fast as possible. Finally, the circular trapping area was designed to have a volume of 1 µL that was related to the minimum amount of heparin-functionalized magnetic microspheres estimated to reach ~100 % of cytokines bound as explained in Chapter 2.



Figure 3.2 2D sketch of the photomask used to fabricate the microfluidic sytem (fluidic part).

The fabrication procedure used to build this system was a standard photolithography or soft lithography method (see below). After fabricating the system a glass-slide was used to cover the channels. This system was tested by recording the liquid filling and magnetic microspheres colloidal solution behavior inside the trapping area.

3.3 Materials and Methods

Carboxyl functionalized magnetic microspheres of 6.0 µm (COMPEL) were obtained from Bangs Laboratories, Inc. (Fishers, IN). Sylgard 184 silicone elastomer kit base or silicone (Dimethyl siloxane, dimethylvinyl-terminated major component) and curing agent or silicone resin solution (Dimethyl, methylhydrogen siloxane major component) was used (Down Corning, Midland, MI. Epoxy based photoresist or SU-8 was purchased from MicroChem (Newton, MA). Light microscope was purchased from Leica Microsystems, Inc. (Buffalo Grove, IL). The syringe pump was purchased from BASi (West Lafayette, IN). A digital camera ViviCam 7388s from Vivitar (New York, NY) was used. Fluorinated ethylene propylene (FEP) tubing (0.12 mm inner diameter) and tubing adaptors were purchased from CMA Microdialysis, Inc. (North Chelmsford, MA).

The microfluidic device in PDMS was fabricated using standard photolithography, see Figure 3.3. SU-8 was spin coated on a 4" silicon wafer to create a master mold. PDMS was prepared by mixing the base and curing agent at a 10:1 (w/w) ratio according to the DOW CORNING's product information sheet.⁷ The mixture was degassed using an in-house made vacuum system, see Figure 3.4, and poured onto the SU-8 master mold. After that the SU-8 master mold was cured in a 75 °C oven for 1 hour. The PDMS replica mold was cutted out using a razor blade, removed from the SU-8 master mold, and cleaned using isopropyl alcohol. After that the device was placed on a standard, previously cleaned using isopropyl alcohol, microscope glass slide to cover the channels. The interaction between the PDMS and the glass slide form a weak or reversible bond due to the Van der Waals forces.⁶ According to McDonald, et al., this type of bond between PDMS and glass can withstand up to 5 psi, and the amount of residue left after the PDMS is peeled off is significantly low making the fabrication process easier.⁶ The inlet and outlet of the device were made using a round punch having a nominal cutting edge diameter of 0.71 mm from Technical Innovations, Inc. (Angleton, TX). Finally, the inlet and outlet tubing were placed in the holes previously made by slightly pushing them in without using any fittings, see Figure 3.5.

3.4 Testing

3.4.1 Liquid filling

In order to test whether or not the system had any leakage and to observe the liquid filling behavior inside the circular trapping area, HLPC-grade water and 10 mM phosphate buffered saline (PBS), pH 7.6 were perfused at 1.0 µL/min flow rate in two different set of experiments. During each individual experiment a video was recorded at 1.0 µL/min flow rate starting at the "entrance" of the circular trapping area. The video was recorded using an in-house made micro-video recording system composed of a digital camera attached to a light microscope, see Figure 3.6. Two sets of snapshots were taken after the experiments were performed, see Figure 3.7, and 3.8.

3.4.2 Microspheres behavior inside circular trapping

Magnetic microspheres were taken from a stock solution (3.45 x 10^8 beads/mL) and washed three times with 100 µL of 10 mM phosphate buffered saline (PBS), pH 7.6. The microspheres were perfused into the microfluidic system using a BASi syringe pump. A video of the magnetic microspheres behavior was

recorded at different flow rates (1.0, 2.0, 5.0 and 10.0 μL/min) using the micro-video recording system made in our lab. Several snapshots from the video were taken as illustrated on Figure 3.9.







Figure 3.4 In-house made vacuum system



Figure 3.5 fabricated PDMS microfluidic system with inlet and outlet tubings connected



Figure 3.6 In-house made micro-video recording system



Figure 3.7 Snapshots of the liquid filling experiment for HPLC water pumped at 1.0 μ L/min. The red arrow indicates the direction of the flow.



Figure 3.8 Snapshots of the liquid filling experiment for 10 mM PBS pH 7.6 pumped at 1.0 μ L/min. The red arrow indicates the direction of the flow.

3.4.3 Online and offline collection of microspheres

To evaluate how coupling the microfluidic device to a BASi syringe system (rotator, syringe, and syringe pump) affected the concentration of amine functionalized polystyrene beads overtime at a fixed flow rate two set of experiments were conducted. An aliquot of $1.5 \ \mu$ L was taken from amine functionalized polystyrene microspheres of 6.0 μ m from stock solution ($6.57 \ x 10^8 \ beads/mL$) and diluted in 998.5 μ L of 10 mM PBS having 0.1% polysorbate 20 (Tween 20). The solution ($\sim 1.25 \ x 10^6 \ beads/mL$) was split in two 1.0 mL solutions to be used in two different experiments. The amount of beads in these solutions was measured before and after collection using a hemocytometer. The set up for the experiments was as follows: First, BASi syringe was filled up with one of the 1.0 mL of amine functionalized polystyrene beads solution previously made for each experiment. After that the syringe was placed on a rotator to constantly shake the syringe and keep the amine functionalized polystyrene beads in suspension. A pumping flow rate of 5.0 μ L/min was used for both experiments. Plastic tubing was attached to the syringe tip using a plastic adaptor for offline sampling or amine functionalized polystyrene beads collection.



Figure 3.9 Snapshots taken from the video that was recorded during the perfusion of magnetic microspheres into the microfluidic system at different flow rates. The red arrow indicates the direction of the flow. A) Magnetic microspheres moving away from circular trapping area walls at 10.0 µL/min flow rate, B) magnetic microspheres moving toward circular trapping area walls at 5.0 µL/min flow rate, C) magnetic microspheres starting to spread evenly over the circular trapping area at 2 µL/min, and D) magnetic microspheres spreading evenly over the circular trapping area at 1.0 µL/min flow rate.

For online collection the syringe was coupled to the microfluidic device inlet and amine functionalized polystyrene beads were collected from the device outlet, see Figure 3.10. Amine functionalized polystyrene beads were collected in plastic vials every 15 min for 60 min from either the plastic tubing attached to the syringe tip or microfluidic device outlet. The concentration of amine functionalized polystyrene beads for each experiment was measured using a hemocytometer.



Figure 3.10 Experimental set up for the online and offline collection of amine functionalized polystyrene microspheres of 6.0 µm.

3.5 Results and discussion

3.5.1 Background of the design chosen

The possibility of using polymeric microspheres in the designed microfluidic system was studied. However, physical traps and hydrodynamic forces were necessary in order to trap and release polymeric microbeads from a trapping area after chemical analysis. For instance, one of the early ideas was to have a three channels microfluidic system with a trapping area, see Figure 3.11. The system was composed of one channel for the injection of the microspheres or inlet dialysate that would be coupled to the microdialysis outlet, another channel for injection of the dissociation buffer, and the outlet channel. To explain, the channel used for the injection of dissociation buffer, and the outlet channel would have widths smaller than 6 µm or any beads size chosen to trap the beads in the trapping area. The idea was to flush the microspheres out through the inlet (dialysate) channel by injecting a solution in both inlet channel (dissociation buffer), and outlet at the same time. The drawbacks of this idea were the following: a) Channels with widths smaller than 6 µm are very expensive to fabricate (photomask), b) PDMS could collapse in such a narrow channel, c) Solution of microspheres and buffer must be injected at the same time (inlet dialysate and inlet dissociation buffer), d) dissociation buffer must be injected in both inlet channels as well to avoid bead loss, and e) automation was based on hydrodynamic flow control. It is good to point out that after reading Andersson et al article,⁸ and evaluating the feasibility of using polymeric microspheres for the development of a trap and release microfluidic system using physical barriers magnetic microspheres were chosen. As stated on their article they used standard photolithography, bulk micromachining, deep reactive ion etching, and anodic bonding.⁸ Compared to the two procedures used to make the microfluidic system (fluidic part) using magnetic microspheres on this thesis their system is more complex and difficult for this initial application. Even if the planar electromagnetic trapping system was added into the procedures, it would be easier to fabricate than the Andersson et al system. Also, using an electromagnetic system greatly facilitates the automation process. Furthermore, none of the previously mentioned research papers used a circular trapping area for their microfluidic systems. The advantages and disadvantages of using a circular trapping area for microfluidic applications can be seen on Table 3.1. Pant and his colleagues presented a poster called "System level Simulation of Liquid Filling in Microfluidic Chips".⁹ They used three different abrupt structures, sharprectangle, hexagon, and rounded-rectangle and studied the liquid filling behavior.⁹ According to Pant, et al., sharp-rectangle abrupt structures or trapping areas tend to trap air bubbles at the corner.9,10 In contrast, they found that hexagon, and rounded-rectangle abrupt structures did not trap air bubbles. Compared to sharp-rectangle trapping areas circular trapping areas do not trap air bubbles shown by this work.



Figure 3.11 Earlier proposed microfluidic system with physical traps

Table 3.1 Advantages and disadvantages of the circular microfluidic system developed

Advantages	Disadvantages
Circular design avoid trapping air (sharp-rectangle	Cannot withstand flow rates higher than
chamber) ⁹	10.0 μL/min without leakage
Easy to fabricate and improve if needed	Only one injection port
Chean and disposable	Channel walls have to be coated to avoid
	any non-specific absorption
Could be integrated to well-known magnetic trapping	Bonds between PDMS and glass could
	be broken when inserting the inlet or
systems	outlet tubing if care is not taken
Easy to automate or control via software	Not a well understood system
Biocompatible and autoclavable if needed	
Useful to study flow behavior in circular chambers	
Do not need thermal or oxygen plasma bonding	1
Does not require complex fittings	1

3.5.2 Pressure drop estimations

Channels and total pressure drop (ΔP) for the microfluidic system was calculated based on the Hagen-Poiseuille law, see Equation 3.1, for straight channels in series and analogy with the Ohm's, see Equation 3.2, and Kirchhoff's laws for circuit in series, see Figure 3.1, and Table 3.2. The following assumptions and constants were used: a) Water was flowing in the channels, b) Incompressible flow, c) trapping area cross sectional area was square, d) volumetric flow rate is constant, e) density of water = 1000 Kg/m³, f) viscosity of water = 1 mPa.s, g) length of channel 1 and 3 = 20.7 mm, h) length of channel 2 = 3.6 mm, i) height of channels 1,2, and 3 = 100 microns, j) width of channel 1 = 100 microns, channel 2 = 3.6 mm, and channel 3 = 200 microns, and k) Q = 1.0 μ L/min. Using equations 3.3, 3.5, 3.7, and 3.8 the total pressure drop was estimated, see Table 3.3. The Reynolds number for each channel was estimated using equations 3.4, 3.5, and 3.6, see Table 3.3. It was found that the total pressure drop is directly proportional to the flow rate (data not shown). For instance, the estimated total pressure drop for

 $0.5 \ \mu$ L/min was 71.13 Pa, and 1425.99 Pa for 10.0 μ L/min. It is good to mention that if the cross section area of the trapping area (circular) were used on the pressure drop calculations the pressure would be slightly higher. Two sets of liquid filling experiments were conducted using HPLC water and 10 mM PBS pH 7.6 at a pumping flow rate of 1.0 μ L. The snapshots of each set of experiments are shown on Figure 3.7 and 3.8. PDMS is hydrophobic, so it tends to reduce the fluid flow of water.

Equation 3.1	Hagen-Poiseuille law	$\Delta p = R_{hyd}Q$	
Equation 3.2	Ohm's law	$\Delta V = R I$	*Reference ¹
Equation 3.3	Hydraulic resistance for a straight channel with rectangle cross section	*R _{hyd} = $\frac{12 \eta L}{1 - 0.63 \left(\frac{h}{w}\right)} \frac{1}{h^3 w}$	Kelefende
Equation 3.4 Reynolds number		$R_e = \frac{\rho V_0 D_h}{\eta}$	**Reference ¹¹
Equation 3.5	Mean velocity	$V_0 = \frac{Q}{A}$	
Equation 3.6	Hydraulic diameter of rectangular tubes	$D_h = \frac{2 h w}{h + w}$	**
Equation 3.7	Conservation of flow rate	***Q = Q ₁ + Q ₂ + Q ₃	
Equation 3.8	Simple additive law	$*R_{hyd} = R_{hyd1} + R_{hyd2} + R_{hyd3}$	*
Equation 3.9	Total pressure drop	$^{*}\Delta P_{T} = (R_{hyd1} + R_{hyd2} + R_{hyd3}) Q$	
Variables R_{hyd} = Hydraulic resistance Q = Volumetric flow rate η = Dynamic viscosity L = Length along the channel axis h = Height of the channel w = Width of the channel		$\Delta V = \text{Potential drop}$ $R = \text{Electrical resistance}$ $I = \text{Electrical current}$ $V_0 = \text{Mean velocity}$ $\rho = \text{Density}$ $L_0 = \text{Length}$ ***Subscripts refer to: Inlet = 1, Trap	ping area = 2,
	A = Area of the channel	and Outlet = 3, see Figure 3.1	

Table 3.2 List of equations and variables used for the estimations

Table 3.3 Results of the estimations for the microfluidic channels

Channel #	R _e	R _{hvd} (Pa.s.m ⁻³) x 10 ¹⁰	ΔΡ (Pa)	ΔΡ_T (Pa)
1	0.17	671.35	112.2	
2	0.01	1.22	0.20	142.60
3	0.11	181.31	30.28	

Figure 3.7C to E show how the PDMS walls surface limit the fluid flow of water molecules due to the PDMS inability to form hydrogen bonds with water. To clarify, the flow path of the pumped HPLC water formed a "tail" that was diminishing as soon as it reached the outlet of the circular trapping area, see Figure 3.7. The hydrodynamic force generated by pumping HPLC water at 1.0 µL/min is high enough to break the resistance to fluid flow presented by PDMS (no data shown). In comparison, pumped PBS did show a slightly "tail" or lesser opposition to fluid flow by PDMS, see Figure 8. This could be explained due to the fact that typically PBS is composed of four inorganic salts (potassium chloride, potassium phosphate monobasic, sodium chloride, and sodium phosphate dibasic). This reduces the "repelling" effect that PDMS has for water molecules. In other words, the interaction between PDMS and PBS is higher than PDMS and water, because water molecules prefer the salt over the hydrophobic PDMS.

The video taken, see non-print materials, demonstrated that magnetic microspheres tend to focus on the middle of the circular trapping area at high flow rates (10.0 and 5.0 μ L/min), see Figure 3.9–A and 3.9-B. On the other hand at lower flow rates (2.0 and 1.0 μ L/min) magnetic microspheres tend to spread almost evenly over the circular area, see Figure 3.9-C and 3.9-D. The distance or gap between the walls (middle) of the trapping area and the stream of magnetic microspheres form next to it is inversely proportional to the flow rate, see Figure 3.9. Based on the diameter of the trapping area I was able to measure those gaps. For flow rates of 10.0 and 5.0 μ L/min the gap remains approximately constant (~0.31mm). In contrast, when flow rates of 2.0 and 1.0 μ L/min were used the same behavior was observed, but the gap was ~0.16mm.

These results helped to have a better understanding of how to control the magnetic microspheres behavior in the trapping area using hydrodynamic force and to determine how long it would take to have an evenly distributed magnetic microspheres layer. Similar behavior has been studied by several researchers for different applications such as beads separation ,^{12,13} and flow behavior.¹⁴ However, as mentioned before those studies used square channels. This kind of behavior has not been presented by any research group as far as the author knows.

In order to evaluate the variation of amine functionalized polystyrene microspheres concentration after coupling the microfluidic device to a BASi syringe system two set of experiments were performed.

50

The initial concentration of amine functionalized polystyrene beads counted before filling up the syringe for the offline collection was 1.25×10^6 beads/mL. For the online collection the concentration was 1.26×10^6 beads/mL. The total averages of the relative recovery of amine functionalized polystyrene beads collected were 66.60 and 66.90% for the offline and online experiments, see Figure 3.12. This indicated that there were not significant differences between the offline and online collection. To explain, coupling the microfluidic device to the BASi syringe system did not have any influence on the concentration of amine functionalized polystyrene beads. These experiments demonstrated that a uniform flow rate can be achieved when coupling the microfluidic system to a syringe system. Finally, it is very important to understand how magnetic microspheres behave in circular channels for the development of any trap and release systems for pre-concentration of biomolecules or other applications.



Figure 3.11 Comparison of the relative recoveries of online and offline collection of 6.0 μ m amine functionalized polystyrene microspheres at 5.0 μ L/min flow rate.

3.6 References

1. Bruus, H., Theoretical microfluidics. Department of Micro and Nanotechnology Technical University of Denmark (Lecture notes): Oxford; New York; Auckland, 2008.

2. Koo, J. M.; Kleinstreuer, C., Liquid flow in microchannels: experimental observations and computational analyses of microfluidics effects. *Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering* **2003**, *13* (5), 568-579.

3. Hallenbeck, K. J., Low Reynolds number water flow characteristics through rectangular micro diffusers/nozzles with a primary focus on major/minor pressure loss, static pressure recovery and flow separation. **2008**.

4. Vedel, S. Millisecond dynamics in microfluidics: Equivalent circuit theory and experiment. Technical University of Denmark, 2009.

5. Choi, S.; Lee, M. G.; Park, J.-K., Microfluidic parallel circuit for measurement of hydraulic resistance. *Biomicrofluidics* **2010**, *4* (3).

6. McDonald, J. C.; Duffy, D. C.; Anderson, J. R.; Chiu, D. T.; Wu, H. K.; Schueller, O. J. A.; Whitesides, G. M., Fabrication of microfluidic systems in poly(dimethylsiloxane). *Electrophoresis* **2000**, *21* (1), 27-40.

7. Dow, C., Information about Dow Corning Brand Silicone Encapsulants. *Product Information Sylgard 184 Silicone* **2008**.

8. Andersson, H.; van der Wijngaart, W.; Stemme, G., Micromachined filter-chamber array with passive valves for biochemical assays on beads. *Electrophoresis* **2001**, *22* (2), 249-257.

9. Song, H.; Wang, Y.; Pant, K., System-level Simulation of Liquid Filling in Microfluidic Chips. In *Lab-on-a-Chip World Congress*, Networks, T., Ed. ePosters.net: San Diego, CA, USA, 2010.

10. Song, H.; Wang, Y.; Pant, K., System-level simulation of liquid filling in microfluidic chips. *Biomicrofluidics* **2011**, *5* (2), 024107.

11. Rodd, L. E.; Scott, T. P.; Boger, D. V.; Cooper-White, J. J.; McKinley, G. H., The inertio-elastic planar entry flow of low-viscosity elastic fluids in micro-fabricated geometries. *Journal of Non-Newtonian Fluid Mechanics* **2005**, *129* (1), 1-22.

12. Park, J.-S.; Jung, H.-I. In *Continuos separation of particles using inertial lift force and vorticity via multi-orifice microchannel*, Twelfth International Conference on Miniaturized Systems for Chemistry and Life Sciences, San Diego, California, USA, Royal Society of Chemistry: San Diego, California, USA, 2008; pp 149-151.

13. Park, J.-S.; Song, S.-H.; Jung, H.-I., Continuous focusing of microparticles using inertial lift force and vorticity via multi-orifice microfluidic channels. *Lab on a Chip* **2009**, *9* (7), 939-948.

14. Hemminger, O. L., Visualizing and Understanding Complex Micro/Nanofluidic Flow Behavior. **2010**.

4 Chapter 4. Conclusions and Future work

Cytokines play an important role in the immune response network generated during implants or prostheses, biosensors, and several disease states. The efficient collection and quantitation of cytokines during an immune response is crucial. This will allow the monitoring of cytokines concentration changes over time during any immune response. In other words, better understanding of the role that each cytokine has during an immunological response. However, this is a very difficult task due to the amount the variables involves in any biological system. Biological systems are very complex making the study of cytokines and collection of cytokines challenging. In order to study cytokines in their "native" environment during a specific state it is important to develop analytical tools that could facilitate the task. It is common practice, due to its simplicity, the collection and quantitation of cytokines from tissues and blood samples. The problem is that the concentration of cytokines measured from tissues or blood sample does not represent the "real" concentration of cytokines. It is more like an indirect measurement of the total concentration present within their biological environment. In their "native" biological environment the cytokine concentration is not constant due to their highly biological activity. If an ideal device or system is to be developed to collect and quantify cytokines it would have to have the following characteristics: a) Minimally invasive constant collection without disrupting their biological environment, b) constant measurement or quantitation of different cytokines (multiplexing) overtime with a lower limit of detection of picomolar and a upper of micromolar, c) easily to use, d) portable, and, e) low cost of fabrication. In reality some of these characteristic can be found on known systems. For example, microdialysis is commonly used to sample from tissue spaces. Microdialysis a diffusion based sample technique is limited to the diffusion properties of the cytokines in their biological environment and across the microdialysis membrane, the composition of the membrane (hydrophilic or hydrophobic), and the speed of the foreign body response caused by its "implantation" to mention a few. Research groups such as Dr. Stenken's group have been working on improving the collection time of cytokines when sampling with microdialysis and the recovery of cytokines. The bead-based method developed by her group increased the relative recovery of cytokines using heparin immobilized microspheres by two-fold in vivo and two to five fold in vitro.¹

Quantitation of cytokines is commonly done by using ELISA. ELISA is a great tool to measure low concentration of cytokines (pg/mL range). However, ELISA is very labor extensive, expensive, time consuming (~19 hours), requires at least 100 μ L of sample (longer collection time) and it is not robust. These facts add another problem to be solved in order to quantify cytokines efficiently.

Microfluidics is one of the fastest new research areas. This research area work on finding answers or developing tools to solve complex problems. It is of common knowledge that complex problems required sometimes more than one research area. For example, cytokines collection and quantitation requires people with knowledge in Biology, Analytical Chemistry, Engineering (fluid dynamics, microfabrication and electronics), and Physics (optics, binding interactions). However, researchers do not need to know the entire "book" if they only need one chapter to solve their problem. In other words, knowing what is needed of a specific area to solve a complex problem is what microfluidics brings. Microfluidic systems have several advantages: a) Low cost, b) easy to use, c) low sample volume, d) easy to fabricate, e) can be coupled to known analytical techniques, and f) well understood systems can be integrated into it.

The aim of this thesis was to use a bead-based method developed by Dr. Stenken's group and integrate it in a microfluidic system coupled to microdialysis sampling to pre-concentrate cytokines. The bead-based method improves the relative recovery of cytokines and the microfluidic system further pre-concentration cytokines to enhance their quantitation.

In Chapter 2 it was shown the ability to reproduce Duo's work by making heparin immobilized polystyrene and magnetic microspheres. Also, it was developed a system to determine the amount of heparin require to achieve ~100% of cytokine bound. This was related to the amount of heparin-immobilized microspheres needed as well based on the amount of heparin immobilized per bead. These beads were tested using equilibrium dialysis and a simple plastic vial incubation method used by Duo. It was estimated that the minimum amount of heparin required to achieve ~100% of cytokine bound was 3.68 µM. The comparisons of experimental and estimated values for ratMCP-1 (heparin immobilized polystyrene beads) were 4.25 and 15.08% difference for 0.1 and 1.0 nM. The percentages differences between experimental and estimated for ratMCP-1 and ratTNF-α were 28.31 and 31.56%, respectively.

The differences of the values could be due to the fact that reported binding constant values were used for the estimations. Part of the future work will be to measure cytokine binding constant to have a better "control" of the conditions.

A microfluidic system was developed and tested by pumping water and PBS. The hydrophobicity of PDMS was confirmed by looking at the opposition to fluid flow by the PDMS channels in the trapping area. Magnetic microspheres flow behavior at different flow rates was tested. The magnetic beads spread inversely proportional to the flow rate used.

The future work will be integration of a trapping, detection, and automation system to fully collect and quantify cytokines in real-time.

4.1 References

1. Duo, J. Affinity Microdialysis Sampling of Cytokines. Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute Troy, New York, 2009.